2010

Utah v. Larry Lewis Hutchings : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

Jurisdiction

This court has jurisdiction under Utah Code section 78A-3-102(3)(a), (5).

Statement of the Issues and Standards of Review

Issue 1: Whether the court of appeals erred in affirming the district court's jury instruction defining intentional conduct for the crime of aggravated assault.

Standard of Review: On certiorari, this court reviews the decision of the court of appeals for correctness. Ostermiller v. Ostermiller, 2010 UT 43, ¶ 14, 233 P.3d 489.

Issue 2: Whether Mr. Hutchings' trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective.

Standard of Review: "As to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, 'we review a lower court's purely factual findings for clear error, but review the application of the law to the facts for correctness.'" Benvenuto v. State, 2007 UT 53, ¶ 9, 165 P.3d 1195 (quoting Taylor v. State, 2007 UT 12, ¶ 13, 156 P.3d 739).

Preservation: State v. Hutchings, 2009 UT App 330, 2009 Utah App. LEXIS 342.

Determinative Provisions

All determinative provisions are at Addendum E.

Statement of the Case

I. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings

This case concerns a physical altercation between Larry Hutchings and his girlfriend, Deborah Cuddeback. During the altercation Ms. Cuddeback's hand was broken, which provided the basis for the State to file charges against Mr. Hutchings for aggravated assault. (R. 272:15.) The State also charged Mr. Hutchings with aggravated burglary and criminal mischief. (R. 272:15.)

The jury was instructed that it could find Mr. Hutchings guilty of aggravated assault if (i) he intended to assault Ms. Cuddeback and (ii) the assault resulted in serious bodily injury. (R. 253.) The jury was not instructed that it must find Mr. Hutchings intended the serious bodily injury. The jury convicted Mr. Hutchings of aggravated assault and criminal mischief, but not aggravated burglary. (R. 163; 271:219.) Mr. Hutchings was sentenced to a term of 1 to 15 years. (R. 229.)

In a memorandum decision, the court of appeals affirmed the conviction. State v. Hutchings, 2009 UT App 330, 2009 Utah App. LEXIS 342. The court of appeals held that under Utah's aggravated assault statute, "[i]t is enough to satisfy the mens rea requirement if the defendant intends the act that results in serious bodily injury." Id. ¶ 5.

II. Statement of Facts

When Mr. Hutchings came home on April 6, 2006, Ms. Cuddeback would not open the door, leading Mr. Hutchings eventually to kick in the door to retrieve his personal belongings. (R. 271:106, 113-14; 272:102.) A physical altercation followed. (R. 271:114.) During that altercation, Ms. Cuddeback's hand was broken. (R. 271:12.)

At trial, Mr. Hutchings did not dispute the physical altercation with Ms. Cuddeback, but maintained that (i) he was defending himself and (ii) Ms. Cuddeback had broken her hand while assaulting him. (R. 271:113-14.) Thus, the trial court's instruction concerning the elements of aggravated assault were critical. The instruction given by the trial court permitted the jury to convict Mr. Hutchings if it found that it was his "conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct" that resulted in the injury to Ms. Cuddeback's hand. (R. 253.) Because Mr. Hutchings did not dispute the alleged conduct, the only issue was whether during the altercation Mr. Hutchings intended serious bodily injury, something the jury was instructed that it need not find. (R. 253.)

Both Mr. Hutchings and Ms. Cuddeback's version of events are consistent with Mr. Hutchings' contention that he did not intend serious bodily injury. According to Mr. Hutchings, after Ms. Cuddeback refused to open the door and he kicked the door open, and Ms. Cuddeback attacked him by grabbing him around the neck and choking him until he pushed her off of him. (R. 271:113-14, 116.) Ms. Cuddeback then clawed his face with her fingers outstretched. (R. 271:117-18). After clawing his face, Ms. Cuddeback punched him in the head, something that left the bruise visible in the photos introduced at trial. (R. 271:120; State's Exhibit 12 attached at Addendum C.) According to Mr. Hutchings, Ms. Cuddeback injured her hand when she punched him in the head. (R. 271:121.) It was undisputed that Mr. Hutchings suffered injuries to his face, head, and neck during the altercation. (R. 271:10; Add. C.)

According to Ms. Cuddeback, Mr. Hutchings tackled her to the floor and choked her. (R. 272:53.) Ms. Cuddeback admitted that she then scratched his face and dug her nails into his forehead. (R. 272:52, 54.) At that point, according to Ms. Cuddeback,

Mr. Hutchings threw her hand out of his way “because I was pushing him, trying to get him off me. And the nails must of hurt him. They were cutting him. He grabbed my wrist and threw my hand backwards.” (R. 272:55.)¹ Ms. Cuddeback testified that the altercation ended when she asked, “what are you going to do, kill me?” (R. 272:56.) Mr. Hutchings then stopped, went to the freezer, and took out a pack of cigarettes. (R. 272:57.) He then proceeded to fix the broken doorframe by using Ms. Cuddeback’s hiking boot. (R. 272:86.) At the time, neither of them knew her hand was broken, the only injury that could later support an aggravated assault charge. (R. 272:86.)

After Ms. Cuddeback’s testimony, the defense moved for directed verdict. (R. 271:75.) Trial counsel argued, “what is required in order to establish a prima facie case of [aggravated assault] is not only that the serious bodily injury was caused but that it was intentionally caused. And I would remind the court of the testimony of Ms. Cuddeback, which as I recall, appears to indicate that during the struggle she was scratching Mr. Hutchings’ face. And according to her testimony he grabbed her hand and flung it back consistent with somebody trying to get scratching off of their face. I would indicate to the court that that certainly does not in my view rise to the level of establishing a prima facie case of intentionally injuring the hand.” (R. 271:76-77.) The trial court denied the motion and later instructed the jury that it need not find that Mr. Hutchings intended serious bodily injury. (R. 271:80; 253.)

¹ (See also R. 272:85 (on cross-examination Ms. Cuddeback reiterated: “Q: And he flung your right hand, that’s the injured hand? A: That would be because I was trying to push him off.”); R. 271:38 (the doctor who treated Ms. Cuddeback testified: “She said that she’d been assaulted. . . . And as she attempted to scratch her assailant, he grabbed her arm and flung it backwards, hit a hard object, and she was afraid her hand was broken.”).)

Summary of the Argument

The trial court instructed the jury that aggravated assault does not require a specific intent to cause serious bodily injury, but instead requires only that the defendant intends an act that then results in serious bodily injury. The court of appeals agreed, citing a case involving a jury instruction for second degree murder—a general intent crime—not aggravated assault. State v. Fontana, 680 P.2d 1042, 1044 n.1 (Utah 1984).

Both the court of appeals and trial court erred. The plain language of the aggravated assault statute requires that one “intentionally causes serious bodily injury to another.” Utah Code Ann § 76-5-103(1)(a). This court three times has construed that language to require specific intent to cause serious bodily injury. In re Besendorfer, 568 P.2d 742, 744 (Utah 1977) (“a specific intent to inflict serious bodily injury on the victim”); State v. Howell, 554 P.2d 1326, 1328 (Utah 1976) (“specific intent to inflict serious bodily harm upon the victim”); State v. Peck, 542 P.2d 1084, 1085 (Utah 1975) (rejecting that aggravated assault requires only a simple assault that causes serious bodily injury). Thus, the jury instruction was plainly erroneous under existing law.

And that error was prejudicial, whether viewed under plain error or ineffective assistance of counsel analysis. Mr. Hutchings stated that Ms. Cuddeback injured her hand while she was hitting him. Ms. Cuddeback stated that Mr. Hutchings injured her hand when he pushed her hand away from him to stop her from digging her fingernails into his face. Neither version of events supports the view that Mr. Hutchings intended serious bodily injury rather than, at most, intended an act that resulted in injury. Thus, there is a substantial likelihood that Mr. Hutchings would not have been convicted of aggravated assault had the jury been properly instructed. This court should reverse.

Argument

I. The Court of Appeals Erred in Holding That Aggravated Assault Is a General Intent Crime

The trial court erred when it gave a jury instruction describing aggravated assault as requiring only that Mr. Hutchings intended an act that caused serious bodily injury, instead of as requiring that Mr. Hutchings have “intentionally cause[d] serious bodily injury to another,” which is the language of the statute. Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103(1)(a) (2005).² The court of appeals then erred in rejecting Mr. Hutchings’ argument “that to be guilty of aggravated assault he must have intended to cause the serious bodily injury suffered by the victim, not simply the conduct that resulted in the serious bodily injury.” State v. Hutchings, 2009 UT App 330, ¶ 5, 2009 Utah App. LEXIS 342. The aggravated assault statute, as well as this court’s cases interpreting that statute, plainly requires a specific intent to cause serious bodily injury, not a general intent to act.

The crime of aggravated assault contains two mens rea requirements. First, the defendant must “commit assault as defined in § 75-6-102.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103(1)(a). Section 75-6-102 defines “assault” as “an act, committed with unlawful force or violence, that causes bodily injury to another or creates a substantial risk of bodily injury to another.” Id. § 76-5-102. Because there is no prescribed mens rea for simple assault, a defendant’s conduct may be intentional, knowing, or reckless. Id. Second, and most important here, to transform simple assault into aggravated assault the defendant

² “A person commits aggravated assault if he commits assault as defined in Section 76-5-102 and he: (a) intentionally causes serious bodily injury to another; or (b) under circumstances not amounting to a violation of Subsection (1)(a), uses a dangerous weapon as defined in Section 76-1-601 or other means or force likely to produce death or serious bodily injury.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103(1) (2005) (emphasis added).

must “intentionally cause serious bodily injury to another.”³ Id. § 76-5-103(1)(a). That language plainly requires the defendant specifically to intend serious bodily injury.

In this case, the jury first was correctly instructed as to the elements of aggravated assault: “Intentionally or knowingly; Committed an assault on [Ms. Cuddeback]; and Intentionally caused serious bodily injury to her.” (R. 186 (Add. B).) But the jury then was incorrectly instructed that “intentionally” does not require that Mr. Hutchings intend the result, i.e., serious bodily injury: “A person engages in conduct intentionally, or with intent or willfully with respect to the nature of his conduct or to a result of his conduct, when it is his conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct or cause the result.” (R. 198 (Add. B)); Hutchings, 2009 UT App 330, ¶ 5 (emphasis added). The combination of these instructions permitted the jury to convict Mr. Hutchings of aggravated assault whether he merely intended to push Ms. Cuddeback’s hand away from him or intended to cause serious bodily injury to Ms. Cuddeback’s hand.

The court of appeals found no error in the jury instructions based upon the following analysis, which is quoted in its entirety:

It is enough to satisfy the mens rea requirement if the defendant intends the act that results in serious bodily injury.
See State v. Fontana, 680 P.2d 1042, 1044 n.1 (Utah 1984)
(upholding nearly identical instructions for intent).

Hutchings, 2009 UT App 330, ¶ 5.⁴ There are a number of problems with the court of appeals’ abrupt analysis.

³ Because it is undisputed that Mr. Hutchings did not use a dangerous weapon, this brief ignores the alternative definition of aggravated assault involving the use of a dangerous weapon. Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103(1)(b).

⁴ For some reason, the court of appeals cites to the 2008 version of the Utah Code. Hutchings, 2009 UT App 330, ¶ 4 & n.2. But the 2005 version applies, as the incident occurred in April 2006. (R. 271:106, 113.) The mistake is inconsequential because the relevant statutes did not change between 2005 and the 2010 Legislative Session.

The first problem is that Fontana upheld a jury instruction for second degree murder, not aggravated assault. 680 P.2d 1042, 1044 (Utah 1984). The jury instruction in Fontana stated that second degree murder can be based on three “alternative forms of conduct.” Id. These alternatives included (i) knowingly or intentionally engaging in conduct that causes the death of another, (ii) acting with the intent to cause serious bodily injury and committing an act clearly dangerous to human life that results in the death of another, or (iii) acting under circumstances evidencing a depraved indifference to a human life. Id. Thus, the jury instruction in Fontana described a crime that can be committed with a general intent to act in a manner that results in death.⁵ Conversely, aggravated assault requires a specific intent to cause serious bodily injury.⁶

The second problem with the court of appeals’ analysis is that it ignores entirely three cases in which this court has held that aggravated assault is a specific intent crime requiring that the defendant intend to cause serious bodily injury. In In re Besendorfer, this court held that aggravated assault requires proof that “the accused intentionally caused serious body injury, viz., that he had a specific intent to inflict serious bodily injury on the victim, and such injuries were, in fact, caused by the assault.” 568 P.2d 742, 744 (Utah 1977).⁷ In State v. Howell, this court held that aggravated assault

⁵ Even today, “[c]riminal homicide constitutes murder in the second degree if the actor: (a) intentionally or knowingly causes the death of another, (b) intending to cause serious bodily injury to another, he commits an act clearly dangerous to human life that causes the death of another, and (c) acting under circumstances evidencing a depraved indifference to human life, he engages in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to another and thereby causes the death of another.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-203(1).

⁶ “A person commits aggravated assault if he commits assault as defined in Section 76-5-102 and he . . . intentionally causes serious bodily injury to another.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103(1)(a).

⁷ The aggravated assault statute in Besendorfer is identical to the statute at issue here. 568 P.2d at 743-44.

“requires a specific intent to inflict serious bodily harm upon the victim.” 554 P.2d 1326, 1328 (Utah 1976).⁸ And in State v. Peck this court held that the trial court committed reversible error when, among other things, it instructed the jury that “a person commits aggravated assault if he commits assault as defined above and he causes serious bodily injury to another.” 542 P.2d 1084, 1085 (Utah 1975).⁹ After noting that the instruction omits the requirement that a defendant intend serious bodily injury, this court observed that the “instruction would have permitted a verdict of simple assault” rather than aggravated assault. Id. That is precisely what the jury instructions permit here.

Confirming the court of appeals’ error, the Legislature in 2010 amended the aggravated assault statute to transform it from a specific intent crime into a general intent crime. Starting in November 2010, the statute requires only that a defendant act in a manner likely to cause serious bodily injury.¹⁰ If serious bodily injury in fact results, then the crime is a second-degree felony; but if no serious bodily injury results, the crime is only a third-degree felony. The bill explains that the amendment was necessary to “provide that commission of aggravated assault resulting in serious bodily injury is a second degree felony, regardless of whether the actor intended to cause serious bodily injury.” Enrolled Copy of Senate Bill 10, 2010 General Session, at 1:18-20, attached as Addendum F. Were the court of appeals correct that “[i]t is enough to satisfy the mens

⁸ The aggravated assault statute in Howell is identical to the statute at issue here. 554 P.2d at 1328.

⁹ The aggravated assault statute in Peck is identical to the statute at issue here. 542 P.2d at 1084.

¹⁰ “A person commits aggravated assault if the person commits assault as defined in Section 76-5-102 and uses: (a) a dangerous weapon as defined in Section 76-1-601; or (b) other means or force likely to produce death or serious bodily injury.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103(1)(a) (2010).

rea requirement if the defendant intends the act that results in serious bodily injury,” Hutchings, 2009 UT App 330, ¶ 5, then the 2010 amendment to the statute would have been unnecessary.

The court of appeals erred in approving of jury instructions that permitted the jury to convict Mr. Hutchings if it found “his conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct or cause the result,” where the statute expressly required that Mr. Hutchings intentionally “cause the result,” here serious bodily injury. The court of appeals, and the trial court, erred.

II. The Trial Court Committed Plain Error, and Trial Counsel Was Constitutionally Ineffective, in Failing to Ensure the Jury Was Instructed That It Had to Find Mr. Hutchings Intended Serious Bodily Injury

This court can vacate the aggravated assault conviction on two grounds: (i) plain error and (ii) ineffective assistance of counsel. Under plain error doctrine, this court will reverse where “(i) an error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is harmful, i.e., absent the error there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome.” State v. Ross, 2007 UT 89, ¶ 17, 174 P.3d 628 (quotations omitted). For ineffective assistance, counsel’s performance must (i) have fallen below “an objective standard of reasonableness” and (ii) prejudice the client. Adams v. State, 2005 UT 62, ¶ 25, 123 P.3d 400 (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)). Because the error should have been obvious to both the trial court and trial counsel, Mr. Hutchings will analyze the error under both doctrines at the same time.

A. The Error in the Jury Instructions Should Have Been Obvious to the Trial Court and Trial Counsel

As demonstrated above, the plain language of the aggravated assault statute required the jury to find that Mr. Hutchings intended to cause serious bodily injury to Ms. Cuddeback's hand. Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103(1)(a) ("A person commits aggravated assault if he commits assault as defined in Section 76-5-102 and he... intentionally causes serious bodily injury to another."). Under Utah law, an error is obvious when "the law governing the error was clear at the time the alleged error was made." State v. Dean, 2004 UT 63, ¶ 16, 95 P.3d 276. Here, no fewer than three cases decided by this court interpret section 76-5-103(1) to require a specific intent to cause serious bodily injury. In re Besendorfer, 568 P.2d 742, 744 (Utah 1977) ("a specific intent to inflict serious bodily injury on the victim"); State v. Howell, 554 P.2d 1326, 1328 (Utah 1976) ("specific intent to inflict serious bodily harm upon the victim"); State v. Peck, 542 P.2d 1084, 1085 (Utah 1975) (rejecting that aggravated assault requires only a simple assault that causes serious bodily injury). Therefore, the error was obvious under the law governing at the time the error was made in September 2007.

For the same reason, constitutionally effective counsel would have objected to a jury instruction that expanded the definition of "aggravated assault" to include a mere intent to act instead of an intent to cause serious bodily injury. The erroneous instruction freed the State from proving every element of its case beyond a reasonable doubt, namely that Mr. Hutchings intended to cause serious injury to Ms. Cuddeback. Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-501. Here, trial counsel's error was particularly puzzling in light of the fact that he moved for directed verdict on the ground that there was no evidence that Mr. Hutchings specifically intended serious bodily injury to Ms. Cuddeback. (R. 271:76-

77.) There is no strategic reason later to misstate the law to relieve the State of proving the most crucial, and lacking, element of the crime. As the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals recently explained, it is objectively unreasonable to instruct a jury that it may convict of a specific intent crime “based on his conduct, rather than on intending or knowing the prohibited result.” Chaney v. State, 314 S.W.3d 561 (Tex. App. 2010) (reversing unpreserved jury instruction); Cook v. State, 884 S.W.2d 485, 489 (Tex. Crim. App. 1994) (when a court issues a charge defining a specific intent offense it must tailor jury instructions and exclude all inconsequential language relating to the nature of the defendant’s conduct). Trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective.

B. Absent Misleading Jury Instructions, the Jury Likely Would Not Have Convicted Mr. Hutchings of Aggravated Assault

In this case, accurate jury instructions likely would have resulted in a different outcome, something that warrants reversal under both a plain error and ineffective assistance standard.

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