2010

# Utah v. Larry Lewis Hutchings : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

This does not mean, however, that all of Instruction 27 applied to all of the elements of all of the crimes. Instead, Instruction 27 applied only on a clause-specific basis. For example, Instruction 27 defined knowing conduct. But while Instruction 14 allowed the underlying assault to be proven through intentional or knowing conduct, it expressly stated that the aggravator could be proven only through an intended result. R. 186. Thus, on its face, Instruction 27’s definition of knowing conduct would have been inapplicable to that particular element.

More importantly, Instruction 27’s definition of intentional conduct was multi-faceted as well. Specifically, it included definitions of both intended acts and intended results, stating that a “person engages in conduct intentionally . . . with

respect to the nature of his conduct *or* to a result of his conduct, when it is his conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct *or* cause the result.” R. 198 (emphasis added).

Contrary to Defendant’s claim, that instruction did not state that the definitions of intended conduct and intended results were interchangeable. Instead, as noted, Instruction 27 separated the definition of intended conduct from the definition of intended results through use of the disjunctive “or.”

Thus, Instruction 27 told the jury how to interpret any element that called for either intentional conduct or an intended result. In other words, if an individual element required intentional conduct, Instruction 27 required the jury to conclude that it was Defendant’s “conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct.” R. 198. But if an individual element instead required an intended result, Instruction 27 required the jury to conclude that Defendant’s “conscious objective or desire [was] to . . . cause the result.” R. 198.

Read together, Instructions 14 and 27 correctly set forth the governing law as dictated by statute. Specifically, Instruction 14(2)-(3) set forth the simple assault element, directing the jury to first determine whether Defendant “intentionally or knowingly committed an assault on Deborah Cuddeback.” R. 186. This referred to Defendant’s conduct. Thus, Instruction 27 directed the jury to consider whether it

was Defendant's "conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct" — i.e. to assault Deborah. R. 186.

Instruction 14(4) then set forth the additional element required to convert simple assault to aggravated assault. Specifically, Instruction 14(4) required the jury to find that Defendant also "intentionally caused serious bodily injury." R. 186. This referred to an intended result. Thus, Instruction 27 clarified that Defendant could only be convicted of aggravated assault if the jury found that Defendant's "conscious objective or desire" was to "cause[ ] serious bodily injury." R. 186, 190.

The jury instructions in this case therefore correctly set forth the intent requirement for aggravated assault. This Court should accordingly affirm the court of appeals' conclusion that there was no error in the instructions.

**C. This Court may also affirm because the court of appeals should not have considered the claim where it was barred by the invited error doctrine.**

Even if these jury instructions were incorrect, the court of appeals' result should be affirmed because Defendant's claim regarding Instruction 27 was not properly before the court. Specifically, the court of appeals should have rejected the claim based on the invited error doctrine.

Under the invited error doctrine, "a party on appeal cannot take advantage of an error committed at trial when that party led the trial court into committing the

error.” *State v. Alfatlawi*, 2006 UT App 511, ¶ 26, 153 P.3d 804 (quotations and citation omitted). This occurs when there are “[a]ffirmative representations that a party has no objection to the proceedings . . . because such representations reassure the trial court and encourage it to proceed without further consideration of the issues.” *State v. Winfield*, 2006 UT 4, ¶ 16, 128 P.3d 1171. In the context of jury instructions, invited error ordinarily occurs when a defendant “affirmatively approve[s] of the jury instructions at trial.” *Alfatlawi*, 2006 UT App 511, ¶ 26 (alteration in original). But even where counsel “confirm[s] on the record that the defense had no objection to the instructions given by the trial court,” or instead “fail[s] to object to an instruction when specifically queried by the court,” the invited error doctrine applies. *State v. Geukgeuzian*, 2004 UT 16, ¶ 10, 86 P.3d 742.

If the invited error doctrine applies, a defendant cannot obtain review of an issue, even for plain error or exceptional circumstances. *See Geukgeuzian*, 2004 UT 16, ¶ 9; *Alfatlawi*, 2006 UT App 511, ¶ 26. Instead, a defendant can obtain review only by alleging ineffective assistance of counsel in inviting the error. *See State v. Bullock*, 791 P.2d 155, 158-60 (Utah 1989).

Here, Defendant’s trial counsel objected to a number of proposed instructions, but she never objected to Instruction 14 or Instruction 27. R. 271: 147-61. Instead, counsel affirmatively represented that she had no further objections to any of the



remaining instructions. R. 271: 160. Thus, Defendant invited any error with respect to this issue, and the court of appeals should accordingly have denied this claim on this basis. *See Geukgeuzian*, 2004 UT 16, ¶ 9; *Alfatlawi*, 2006 UT App 511, ¶ 26.

Granted, the State did not argue invited error below. However, this was because defense counsel never raised this claim on appeal. Instead, he argued only that Instruction 14(2) (regarding simple assault) was incorrect. *See* Aplt. Br. 21-23. To the extent that this was raised at all, it was only raised in *Anders* portion of the brief. As near as the State can determine, Defendant did not ever raise this claim in his initial *Anders* brief. Instead, the only place where Defendant even arguably raised that issue was on page 3 of addendum B, which was his pro se “response” to the *Anders* brief filed by counsel. There, he apparently argued for the first time that Instruction 27 was incorrect because it “fails to define [the crime] specifically to intentionally causes serious bodily injury.” Aplt. Br., addendum B (3). But Defendant did not specifically claim that he received ineffective assistance of counsel with respect to that claim. Moreover, as noted above, the State was not required to offer a substantive response to arguments made in his *Anders* brief, let alone arguments that had been raised for the first time in what was essentially Defendant’s *reply* to his counsel’s objections. *See State v. Clayton*, 639 P.2d 168, 170

(Utah 1981) (“Because of the special nature of the *Anders* brief, the attorney general [is not] expected to file a responsive brief.”).

In short, as a result of defense counsel’s conscious decision at trial not to object to Instruction 27, the invited error doctrine applied. And as a result of the invited error doctrine, Defendant could obtain review of that instruction only by alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. Given that neither Defendant nor his counsel raised any ineffective assistance claim regarding Instruction 27 in the briefing below, the court of appeals should not have reviewed this claim at all. But having chosen to do so, it should have recognized that any error was invited. This Court may therefore affirm on that alternate basis.<sup>10</sup>

---

<sup>10</sup> In its opinion, the court of appeals suggested that although Defendant had “failed to object to these *instructions* in the trial court,” the State had not “contest[ed] [its] review of these *issues*” for plain error. *Hutchings*, 2009 UT App 330 at \* 2 n.1 (emphasis added). In its brief, however, the State only substantively responded to the single claim raised by defense counsel – i.e. that Instruction 14(2) inaccurately set forth the mental state for simple assault. Aplee. Br. 4-6. Given that settled precedent controlled that issue, the State did indicate that it was not arguing invited error regarding that particular instruction. Aplee. Br. 4 n.2.

But as noted above, Defendant’s claim here is not based on Instruction 14. To the contrary, he agrees that that instruction was correct. Pet. Br. 7. Instead, his claim is based on Instruction 27, which was neither challenged nor argued in the briefing below. The State’s limited concession below therefore does not apply.

## II.

### **DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN THAT HE RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE WHEN HIS TRIAL COUNSEL DID NOT OBJECT TO THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS**

This Court also granted certiorari to review “[w]hether Petitioner’s trial counsel was ineffective.” Addendum D. In his brief, Defendant raises only one claim of ineffective assistance: that his trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to Instruction 27. Pet. Br. 6-14. As discussed above, however, Defendant never raised that claim in the trial court, nor did he or his counsel brief it in the hybrid *Anders* brief that was filed with the court of appeals. This Court should accordingly decline to address this issue now.

But even if reached, the claim should be rejected on its merits. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Defendant must show: (1) that trial counsel’s performance was deficient—i.e, that it did not meet an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 694 (1984). Defendant’s claim fails under both prongs.

First, counsel did not perform deficiently. When assessing deficient performance claims, there is a “strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.” *State v. Cruz*, 2005 UT 45, ¶ 38, 122 P.3d 543 (quotations and citation omitted). Defense counsel does not perform deficiently by not filing a futile motion. *See, e.g., State v. Kelley*, 2000 UT 41, ¶ 26, 1 P.3d 546; *State v. Whittle*, 1999 UT 96, ¶ 34, 989 P.2d 52.

As explained above, Instruction 27 tracked the statutory language and was a correct statement of the law. Moreover, it did not incorrectly modify the mental state required for aggravated assault. There was accordingly no basis for counsel to have objected, and Defendant’s deficient performance claim should therefore be rejected for that reason.

Second, Defendant has not shown that any deficient performance prejudiced him. Under *Strickland*’s prejudice prong, “[i]t is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. Rather, Defendant must demonstrate that “a reasonable probability exists that but for the deficient conduct [he] would have obtained a more favorable outcome at trial.” *State v. Clark*, 2004 UT 25, ¶ 6, 89 P.3d 162.

Defendant claims that if Instruction 27 had been omitted or modified, the jury “likely would have concluded that the evidence [did] not support an aggravated assault conviction.” Pet. Br. 13. Defendant is wrong for two reasons.

First, the State’s theory of the case – and, thus, the resulting conviction – was always predicated on the correct assertion that Defendant had to intend to inflict serious bodily injury. During opening statement, the prosecutor explained that the jury must decide whether Defendant’s “intent” was to injure his victim, “such as the breaking of her metacarpal” bones. R. 272: 12. The prosecutor also argued that after hearing the evidence, the jury would be “convinced that [Defendant] intended to cause serious bodily injury.” R. 272: 15. During closing argument, the prosecutor again stressed that the jury had to decide whether Defendant had “intentionally caused serious bodily injury” to the victim, and, more specifically, whether he had “intentionally [broken] Debby’s hand.” R. 271: 178, 179. The prosecutor thus asked the jury to convict Defendant because he had “intentionally caused the serious bodily injury.” R. 271: 178.

The State never argued that Defendant should be convicted of aggravated assault merely because he intended the conduct, and nothing in Instruction 27 suggested that the jury should disregard Instruction 14(4)’s clear command that he had to intend to inflict serious bodily injury. Thus, if Instruction 27 had been

omitted or modified, the evidentiary picture, Defendant's arguments, and the State's arguments would all have remained the same. Given this, there is no reasonable probability that the verdict would have somehow been different.

Second, the evidence in this case overwhelmingly supported the conclusion that Defendant intended to cause serious bodily injury. Intent can be proven through circumstantial evidence, and it can also be "inferred from the actions of the defendant or from surrounding circumstances." *State v. Colwell*, 2000 UT 8, ¶ 43, 994 P.2d 177; *see also State v. Emmett*, 839 P.2d 781, 784 (Utah 1992). Moreover, "a person is presumed to intend the natural and probable consequences of his acts." *State v. Sisneros*, 631 P.2d 856, 859 (Utah 1981); *see also 6A C.J.S. Assault* § 95 (2004) (stating that an accused may be held liable for injuries that are "the natural and probable consequence of the wrongful act").

Defendant was "very angry and screaming and yelling" when he approached Deborah's door and kicked it out of its frame. R. 272: 50-51. He then grabbed her by the neck, threw her over a couch, and began choking her. R. 272: 51. When she told him that "he was hurting [her]," Defendant responded that he "was going to kill" her. R. 272: 51-52. After "almost black[ing] out" from lack of oxygen, Deborah managed to temporarily escape by jabbing at Defendant's face with her fingernails. R. 272: 52-53. But Defendant then chased her, tackled her, and began attacking her

again. R. 272: 53. During the ensuing struggle, Defendant “grabbed [her] wrist and threw [her] hand backwards,” smashing it into a large wooden object against the wall. R. 272: 55-56. He did so with enough force that the bone beneath her index finger was “shattered into dozens of pieces” and was “displaced.” R. 271: 39.

When reviewing a jury verdict, “appellate courts may rely on the presumption that the jury properly took into account conflicting evidence and believed the evidence that supported the verdict.” *State v. Gardner*, 2007 UT 70, ¶ 4, 167 P.3d 1074. Here, a “natural and probable consequence[ ]” of intentionally slamming a person’s hand against a hard object with great force is that the person’s hand will be broken, thereby supporting a presumption that Defendant intended that result. *Sisneros*, 631 P.2d at 859. When viewed in light of that presumption, Defendant’s “actions” and the “surrounding circumstances” show that Defendant intended to inflict serious bodily injury. *Colwell*, 2000 UT 8, ¶ 43. Specifically, Defendant was extremely angry from the outset of their confrontation, showed a willingness to use force when he kicked Deborah’s door out of its frame, and showed an intent to harm, if not kill, Deborah when he attacked her, choked her to the point of almost blacking out, as well as by telling her that he intended to kill her.

In response, Defendant now suggests that the jury might have thought he was acting in self-defense when he slammed Deborah’s hand back against the wooden

object. Pet. Br. 13. But that is contrary to the account he gave at trial. There, Defendant never acknowledged grabbing Deborah's hand and slamming it back at all, but instead claimed that she had hurt her hand by punching him. R. 271: 116-20. As evidenced by the verdict, the jury did not believe Defendant. In any event, the jury was specifically instructed that Defendant was entitled to act in self-defense. R. 191-93. In spite of this instruction, the jury convicted Defendant—thereby necessarily rejecting any claim that Defendant was acting in self defense.

In short, Defendant's argument ultimately rests upon the assertion that while he was willing to break down Deborah's door, attack her, and potentially kill her by choking her, he never intended to inflict serious bodily injury. The existing record shows that the jury disagreed, and there is no reasonable probability that the verdict would have been different if Instruction 27 had been altered. Defendant's ineffective assistance claim should accordingly be rejected.<sup>11</sup>

---

<sup>11</sup> In his brief, Defendant additionally claims that the trial court committed plain error by not striking Instruction 27 *sua sponte*. Pet. Br. 11. As discussed above, however, Defendant invited any error by approving that instruction. As a result, he cannot obtain relief under the plain error doctrine.